**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA  
NO. 18-1947**

---

**STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee**

**vs.**

**Richard W. Leedom,  
Defendant-Appellant.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POWESHIEK COUNTY,  
HONORABLE SHAWN R. SHOWERS**

---

**DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST  
FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

Robert P. Montgomery  
Brandon Brown  
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn  
Boles Gribble Gentry  
Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.  
2910 Grand Avenue  
Des Moines, Iowa 50312  
Telephone: (515) 284-5737  
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704  
Email: [bbrown@parrishlaw.com](mailto:bbrown@parrishlaw.com)  
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

### **I. LEEDOM WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO CONFRONT A WITNESS AND PRESENT HIS DEFENSE WHEN THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RELEASE PRIVILEGED RECORDS THAT CONTAINED EXCULPATORY AND IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE.**

#### **United States Supreme Court Cases**

California v. Trometta, 467 U.S. 479 (1984)

Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683 (1986)

Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974)45

Gilmore v. Taylor, 508 U.S. 333 (1993)

United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985)

#### **Additional Federal Authority**

Clay v. Woodbury County, Iowa 965 F. Supp. 2d 1055 (N.D. Iowa 2013)

*East v. Scott*, 55 F.3d 996 (5th Cir. 1995)

*United States v. Golson*, No. 08-85, 2009 WL 89670 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 13, 2009)

*Wentworth v. Hedson*, 493 F. Supp. 2d 559 (E.D.N.Y. 2007)

#### **Iowa Supreme Court Cases**

*Brandon v. West Bend Mut. Ins. Co.*, 681 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 2004)

*English v. Missildine*, 311 N.W.2d 292 (Iowa 1981)

*State v. Jaquez*, 856 N.W.2d 663 (Iowa 2014)

*Miller v. Continental Ins. Co.*, 392 N.W.2d 500 (Iowa 1986)

*Squealer Feeds v. Pickering*, 530 N.W.2d 678 (Iowa 1995)

*State v. Clark*, 814 N.W.2d 551 (Iowa 2012)

*State v. Cole*, 295 N.W.2d 29 (Iowa 1980)

*State v. Dahl*, 847 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 2016)

*State v. Demaray*, 704 N.W.2d 60 (Iowa 2005)  
*State v. Edouard*, 854 N.W.2d 421 (Iowa 2014)  
*State v. Elliott*, 806 N.W.2d 660 (Iowa 2011)  
*State v. Fox*, 491 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1992)  
*State v. Heemstra*, 721 N.W.2d 549 (Iowa 2006)  
*State v. Mahoney*, 515 N.W.2d 47 (Iowa 1994)  
*State v. Neiderbach*, 837 N.W.2d 180, 220 (Iowa 2013)  
*State v. Redmond*, 803 N.W.2d 112, 125 (Iowa 2011)  
*State v. Simpson*, 587 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 1998)  
*State v. Thompson*, 836 N.W.2d 470, 484 (Iowa 2013)  
*State v. Wickes*, 910 N.W.2d 554 (Iowa 2018)

### **Additional Iowa Court Cases**

*State v. Barrett*, No. 17-1814, 2018 WL 6132275 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 21, 2018)  
*State v. Retterath*, No. 16-1710, 2017 WL 6516729 (Iowa Ct. App. 2017)  
*State v. Stone*, No. 07-1009, 2008 WL 4724865 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 29, 2008)  
*Zimmerline v. Parker*, No. 05-1414, 2006 WL 470080 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 1, 2006)

### **Additional State Cases**

*People v. Armijo*, No. 308361, 2012 WL 3590166 (Mich. Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2012)  
*People v. Grissom*, 821 N.W.2d 50 (Mich. 2012)  
*Theus v. State*, 845 S.W.2d 874 (Tex. Crim. App. 1992)  
*Woodall v. State*, 77 S.W.3d 388 (Tex. App. 2002)

### **Additional Authorities**

U.S. CONST. amend. VI  
Iowa Const. art. I, § 9  
Iowa Const. art. I, § 10  
Iowa Code § 232.69  
Iowa Code § 622.10  
Iowa Code § 815.7  
Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(6)  
Iowa R. App. P. 6.101  
Iowa R. App. P. 6.103  
Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c)

## **II. LEEDOM WAS DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE WHEN THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY REJECTED ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE.**

### **United States Supreme Court Cases**

*California v. Trometta*, 467 U.S. 479 (1984)

*Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683 (1986)

*Gilmore v. Taylor*, 508 U.S. 333 (1993)

### **Iowa Supreme Court Cases**

*State v. Blair*, 347 N.W.2d 416 (Iowa 1984)

*State v. Clark*, 814 N.W.2d 551, (Iowa 2012)

*State v. Elliott*, 806 N.W.2d 660 (Iowa 2011)

*State v. Fox*, 491 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1992)

*State v. Jaquez*, 856 N.W.2d 663 (Iowa 2014)

*State v. Lange*, 531 N.W.2d 108 (Iowa 1995)

*State v. Mahoney*, 515 N.W.2d 47 (Iowa 1994)

*State v. Myers*, 382 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 1986)

*State v. Shanahan*, 712 N.W.2d 121 (Iowa 2006)

*State v. Simpson*, 587 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 1998)

*State v. Wilson*, 19 N.W.2d 232 (Iowa 1945)

### **Additional Iowa Court Cases**

*State v. Buchanan*, 800 N.W.2d 743 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011)

*State v. Lusk*, No. 15-1294, 2016 WL 4384672 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 17, 2016)

*State v. Nelson*, 480 N.W.2d 900 (Iowa Ct. App. 1991)

*State v. Pitsenbarger*, No. 14-0060, 2015 WL 1815989 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)

*State v. Stone*, No. 07-1009, 2008 WL 4724865 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 29, 2008)

### **Additional Authorities**

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10



**III. LEEDOM WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL AS A RESULT OF SEVERAL INSTANCES OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT THAT PREJUDICED THE PROCEEDINGS.**

**Iowa Supreme Court Cases**

*Baysinger v. Haney*, 155 N.W.2d 496 (Iowa 1968)  
*State v. Carey*, 709 N.W.2d 547 (Iowa 2006)  
*State v. Carey*, 165 N.W.2d 27 (Iowa 1969)  
*State v. Graves*, 668 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2003)  
*State v. Hamann*, 285 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 1979)  
*State v. Huser*, 894 N.W.2d 472 (Iowa 2017)  
*State v. Krogmann*, 804 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2011)  
*State v. Melk*, 543 N.W.2d 297 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)  
*State v. Myers*, 382 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 1986)  
*State v. O'Connell*, 275 N.W.2d 197 (Iowa 1979)  
*State v. Ross*, 573 N.W.2d 906 (Iowa 1998)  
*State v. Willis*, 218 N.W.2d 921 (Iowa 1974)

**Additional Iowa Court Cases**

*State v. Pitsenbarger*, No. 14-0060, 2015 WL 1815989 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)

**IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY PREVENTING LEEDOM TO CALL THE PROSECUTOR AT THE HEARING ON THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL TO DEVELOP HIS CLAIMS FOR NEW TRIAL.**

**United States Supreme Court Cases**

*Branzburg v. Hayes*, 408 U.S. 665 (1972)  
*Herbert v. Lando*, 441 U.S. 153 (1979)  
*United States v. Nixon*, 418 U.S. 683 (1974)  
*Washington v. Texas*, 388 U.S. 14 (1967)

**Iowa Supreme Court Cases**

*Lamberto v. Bown*, 326 N.W. 2d 305 (Iowa, 1982)

*Morris v. Morris*, 383 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1986)

*Rhiner v. State*, 703 N.W.2d 174 (Iowa 2005)

### **Additional State Cases**

*State v. Wallis*, 439 N.W.2d 590 (Wis. 1989).

### **Additional Authorities**

U.S. CONST. amend. VI

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

### **V. LEEDOM WAS DENIED HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY AND FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS WHEN THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXCLUDED THREE QUALIFIED JUROR VENIRE MEMBERS OVER OBJECTION OF DEFENDANT**

*State v. Finnel*, 515 N.W.2d 41, 43 (Iowa 1994)

### **Additional State Cases**

*Payton v. State*, 572 S.W.2d 677 (Tex. Cr. App., 1978)

*Nichols v. State*, 754 S.W.2d 185 (Tex. Cr. App., 1988)

*Mize v. State*, 754 S.W.2d 732, 741 (TX App. 1988)

*Rosales-Lopez v. United States*, 451 U.S. 182, 188 (1981)

**VI. THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE EVIDENTIARY AND CONSTITUTIONAL ERRORS VIOLATED LEEDOM'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AND DUE PROCESS.**

*State v. Carey*, 165 N.W.2d 27 (Iowa 1969)

*State v. Hardy*, 492 N.W.2d 230 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992).

**Additional Iowa Court Cases**

*Blum v. State*, 510 N.W.2d 175, 180 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993).

**ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case presents several issues, one of which is an issue of first impression: whether an individual is entitled to an *ex parte* hearing in order to disclose trial strategy related information to establish a reasonable probability exculpatory evidence exists in confidential records thereby necessitating disclosure. This question is a substantial issue of first impression and should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case:** Richard Leedom appeals following his conviction of two counts of second degree sexual abuse and

one count of Indecent Contact with a Child, in violation of Iowa Code Chapter 709. He was sentenced October 15, 2018. (App.257)

**Procedural History:** The State charged Leedom with two counts of Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree, in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.1, 709.3(1)(b) and 903B.1, and one count of Indecent Conduct with a Child, in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.12(1)(b) and 903B.2, alleging inappropriate contact from years earlier with his granddaughter, H.M. (App.6). Leedom pled not guilty. (App.9) Jury trial began June 26, 2018, concluding on June 29, 2018 with guilty verdicts on the charged offenses. (App.250-252)

Leedom filed post-trial motions seeking new trial. (App.253) The State resisted. (App.265).

New trial hearing was held date and the court denied the motion. (App.273).

After sentencing, Leedom timely appealed. (Notice, 11/8/18).

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

H.M. was the focus of a contentious child custody modification case when H.M. made allegations against Leedom, her maternal grandfather. H.M. made clear she did not want to live with her mom, Teah, and wanted, instead, to reside full time with her dad. (Trial Tr. 6.27.18 172:12-16; 219:14 – 220:10). H.M. had initiated several DHS investigations against Teah. (App.131). However, in February 2016 a DHS investigation began against H.M.'s father, Rodney Morse. The investigation focused on an accident that took place due to erratic, reckless driving while Morse was impaired by alcohol, causing his truck to rollover with H.M. in the vehicle at the time. (DHS Records Vol. 4; Trial Tr. 6.27.18 211:3 – 214:20; Trial Tr. 6.28.18 104:25 – 106:8).

H.M. lied multiple times about the circumstances surrounding the accident. (Trial Tr. 212:22 – 214:20). She attempted to minimize the accident to deflect concern for her father's ability to parent and to advance her efforts for a change in custodial placement. She even enlisted the aid of her friend,

Brianna, to “lie through her teeth” if asked about the investigation. (Trial Tr. 6/29/2018, 69:18-19).

Following the DHS investigation against her father, H.M. further attempted to shift the department’s focus from her father to her mother. H.M. contacted DHS alleging her mother physically abused her. (DHS Records Vol. 1; Trial Tr. 6.27.18 170:15-23). This was not the first allegation of physical abuse H.M. had made against her mother. (DHS Records Vol. 1). Previous DHS cases against her mother were started in 2015 alleging H.M. had been slapped across the face by her mother, and that her mother was providing inadequate supervision and as a result H.M. was self-harming and staying overnight with her boyfriend. (DHS Records Vol. 1, 2, 3). The two prior reports were made by parents of H.M.’s friends based on H.M.’s statements to her peers. (DHS Records Vol. 2, 3).

In April of 2016, H.M. turned up the heat on her mother. In the wake of the February 2016 DHS investigation against her father, H.M. alleged that her mother had choked her and called her derogatory terms. (DHS Records Vol. 1). During the DHS investigation which, again, focused on the supposed abusive

behavior of her mother, H.M. disclosed for the first time the alleged abuse by her mom's dad, Richard Leedom. (DHS Records Vol. 1). The allegations were all related to purported activity which happened several years earlier. Charges were filed against Leedom as a result of the report.

H.M. was deposed on November 8, 2017. (Dep. of H.M., 1; App.238). During that deposition H.M. stated for the first time she had confided in several counselors and mental-health professionals regarding the alleged sexual abuse charged in this matter. (Dep. of H.M. 76:8-19). Curiously, none of H.M.'s state-licensed counselors or therapists reported any abuse to law enforcement to initiate a DHS investigation. (App.131).

Leedom subsequently filed a § 622.10 Motion for Confidential Records and requested an *in-camera* review of H.M.'s records from those mental health providers. (App.14). Leedom argued all counselors and mental health providers within the State of Iowa are mandatory reporters. Because none of H.M.'s counselors or therapists ever reported any conduct to the authorities, it is axiomatic the records will rebut H.M.'s sworn testimony she disclosed these allegations to therapists

months or years earlier. As such, Leedom argued there was a reasonable probability the records contained exculpatory information. Leedom also argued an *in-camera* review would reveal mental instabilities existing at the time of the alleged assault, shed light on prior similar behavior, and demonstrate issues with H.M.'s perception and/or aggressiveness. As an alternative argument, Leedom asserted H.M. *had* in fact reported the conduct to therapists, the records would reveal inconsistencies in H.M.'s version of events. Because H.M.'s credibility was a central issue in the case, any exculpatory and/or impeachment evidence was essential to a favorable outcome to Leedom, especially from an objective source.

The State resisted Leedom's § 622.10 Motion and the matter was heard on March 1, 2018. Dr. Veronica Lestina, a clinical psychologist and licensed mental health counselor, testified at the hearing. (3/1/18 Hearing on Pending Mot.). Dr. Lestina confirmed that in her experience, if a child under twelve discloses abuse, she is required to report that conduct. (*Id.* at 13-16). She stated that in her own experience, if a child *over* twelve discloses abuse that occurred when the child was *under*



twelve, whether she reports depends on the circumstances of the disclosure. (Id. at 33). But in any event, she recognized a distinction between *reporting* abuse and *noting the disclosure* of reportable conduct in her own files. (Id. at 33-34).

On April 3, 2018, the Court concluded Leedom had failed to meet his initial threshold burden. “Whether a child abuse report was made by the therapist is not necessarily exculpatory in itself.” (App.58). The court further reasoned, “The records sought to be disclosed were not created by [H.M.],” and that H.M. “has been deposed and is subject to being called to testify at trial and undergoing the rigors of cross examination.” (Id.)

Leedom moved for reconsideration. (App.62). Leedom urged he was entitled to an in camera inspection since H.M. waived privilege in her deposition and he was entitled to an *ex parte* hearing to disclose trial strategy information to meet the “reasonable probability” standard. Leedom also filed an offer of proof to support his request for the confidential records. (App.125).

At a hearing on the motion, H.M.’s mental health counselor, Jessica Schmidt, testified. (May 7, 2018 Hearing).

Schmidt testified she had been licensed to provide mental health counseling since 2013 and confirmed that mandatory reporting obligations placed on her as a mental health counselor apply to any child client she provides services for. (*Id.* at 30:19-21; 31:14-17). She further confirmed that she considers anyone under the age of eighteen as a child under the law. (*Id.* at 31:22-24). When questioned about her personal practice with reporting and documenting disclosures of sexual abuse by child clients, Schmidt testified she writes a progress note in the child client's file with details of what was shared in the session and if a report was made to the State. (*Id.* at 32:3-33:8). Schmidt also confirmed she does not make pacts with juvenile clients not to report and would report if she had no knowledge of an ongoing DHS investigation concerning the child's disclosure. (*Id.* at 38:18-39:11; 42:20-43:24).

The trial court never provided an *ex parte* proceeding on the day of the hearing and ultimately entered a written ruling on April 3, 2018 denying *in-camera* review and denying reconsideration. (App.218).

At trial, the State called four witnesses in its case in chief, the most relevant for appeal included H.M. and an expert in forensic interviewing, Ms. Colleen Brazil. The State elicited impermissible testimony at trial from Ms. Brazil who testified children are often abused by someone they know, such as a family member, elicited a detailed hypothetical grooming process that mirrored the statements made by H.M. earlier in the State's case in chief, stated that children often cannot remember precise times of an assault, and confirmed assaults can occur with others present which, again, mirrored the facts. (Trial. Tr. 6/28/2018 78:17-80:2; 81:8-82:10; 84:12-25). Particularly egregious was the State's line of questioning regarding delayed disclosure by a child due to fear of repercussions or fear of disbelief. (*Id.* at 78:2-10; 79:13-80:11; 85:1-87:14). The elicited Brazil testimony continued to mirror testimony already given by H.M. prior in the State's case in chief, serving as impermissible vouching for H.M.'s statement of events.

To place H.M.'s disclosures in proper context, Leedom called Brianna Gatlin, H.M.'s close friend. Gatlin was asked

about her recollection of events on the night of the truck rollover and H.M.'s alleged disclosures of abuse. (Trial Tr. 6/28/2018, 104:25–106:10; 107:6–23; 109:20–110:5; 112:24–114:1). She relayed the consumption of alcohol while driving recklessly in the truck, seeing firsthand how deep the ravine was where the truck flipped over, and the stricter rules at H.M.'s mom's house. (*Id.* at 104:25–106:10; 107:6–23; 109:20–110:5; 112:24–114:1; 115:17–116:14). Gatlin testified at trial that “[H.M.] told me that if DHS talked to me, to lie straight through my teeth.” (Trial Tr. 6/29/2018, 69:18-19).

Leedom also sought to call Teah Leedom to discuss the three separate assaults perpetrated against her in relation ongoing custody dispute involving H.M. (Trial Tr. 6/27/2018, 114:18-21). The assaults referenced the contentious custody battle taking place between H.M.'s father and mother, with the perpetrator telling her to back off from H.M. and her father. (*Id.* at 118:3-4) and occurred in close timing with court dates and Mother's Day. However, the trial court denied Leedom's request to introduce this testimony stating it prejudiced the State. (*Id.* at 119:3–120:10).

Leedom also sought to call Cassie McGee, the family's therapist, to testify about her observations and communications with Teah and H.M. following one of the attacks. However, the court excluded Teah's testimony about the assaults and further quashed subpoenas for both H.M.'s individual counselor (Schmidt), and the family therapist. (McGee).

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