IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 18-1947

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

RICHARD WAYNE LEEDOM,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POWESHIEK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE SHAWN R. SHOWERS, JUDGE (TRIAL)  
THE HONORABLE CRYSTAL S. CRONK (DISCOVERY)

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**DARREL MULLINS**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[darrel.mullins@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:darrel.mullins@ag.iowa.gov)

SUSAN R. KRISKO  
Assistant Attorney General

THOMAS J. OGDEN

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

Leedom draws from several cases which discuss principles of waiver. Appellant’s Pr. Br. pp. 44-49 (citing *Clay v. Woodbury Cty.*,

*Iowa*, 965 F.Supp.2d 1055, 1060 (N.D. 2013); *State v. Demaray*, 704 N.W.2d 60, 66 (2005); *Brandon v. West Bend Mut. Ins. Co.*, 681 N.W.2d 633, 642-43 (Iowa 2004); *Miller*, 392 N.W.2d at 504-05; *Cole*, 295 N.W.2d at 35; *Heemstra*, 721 N.W.2d at 562). The effort, however, detaches principles from context or holding, diminishing their value here.

In *Miller*, the plaintiffs introduced affidavits (and gave the same information in a later deposition) containing their attorney's advice on the statute of limitations. 392 N.W.2d at 501-02, 504. The Court found voluntary waiver of attorney-client privilege. *Id.* at 505. Plaintiffs' acknowledgment that they consulted with their attorney did not waive the privilege; disclosing the advice did. This would be a different case if H.M. relayed the therapy she received.

*Demaray* states voluntary disclosure destroys confidentiality. 704 N.W.2d at 66. But *Demaray* executed a written release for an officer to obtain medical records to assess blood alcohol content. To *Demaray*, one might add *State v. Randle*, 484 N.W.2d 220, 221-22 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992) where the victim executed a written waiver authorizing release of medical records to the DCI. If H.M. had executed a written release, this would be a different case.

*Clay* concerned a civil—not criminal—action for an allegedly improper strip search at a jail. 965 F.Supp.2d at 1057; see Iowa Code § 622.10(2). After asserting emotional distress, releasing medical records, describing in a deposition her treatment, and designating her psychiatrist as a witness, the plaintiff withdrew the claim. *Clay*, 965 F.Supp.2d at 1057-59. Relying on *Demaray* and *Miller*, the court concluded the plaintiff’s earlier waivers did not reinstate the privilege. This would be a different case if H.M. had released her therapist’s records then wanted them back.

*Cole* considered implied waiver by the assertion of a mental-capacity defense. 295 N.W.2d at 35-36. *Cole* relied on Wigmore, an “authority notably opposed to the wide recognition of evidentiary privileges.” Deidre M. Smith, *An Uncertain Privilege: Implied Waiver and the Evisceration of the Psychotherapist-Patient Privilege in Federal Courts*, 58 DePaul L. Rev. 79, 91 (Fall 2008). *Cole* predated section 622.10(4)(a)(1), though, diminishing the value of Wigmore’s critical view. This would be a different case if H.M. asserted some mental infirmity. See also *State v. Smith*, 522 N.W.2d 591, 594 (Iowa 1994) (finding a *Cole* implied-waiver did not occur when a victim testified she did not agree to a sex act).

*Brandon* concerned waiver of attorney-client privilege in an action by an insured against her insurance company that hired outside counsel. 681 N.W.2d at 642. The Court rejected “the notion that a person waives a privilege by verifying the accuracy of answers to interrogatories or by participating in the framing of answers.” Instead, the content of the answers determines the scope of waiver. *Id.* This would be a different case if H.M. had detailed her therapy with Schmidt.

Finally, *Heemstra* answers a different question than Leedom poses. The Court found no voluntary waiver. 721 N.W.2d at 560. Instead, it held privilege could yield under the following conditions: the defendant faced life in prison, the privilege holder was dead, and some of the information was in the public domain in a civil suit. *Id.* at 563. This would be a different case if Leedom faced life in prison, if H.M. was not alive, and she released some of the information in an action against Leedom. Even then, it would not show waiver.

Answering an opponent-attorney’s question whether one discussed a matter with a therapist conveys slim evidence of voluntary waiver. *See Burns v. City of Waterloo*, 187 Iowa 922, 173 N.W. 16, 16 (1919) (holding voluntary introduction of testimony

may waive privilege, but “cross-examination is not deemed voluntary” and “is not effective as a waiver”). Even in the context of civil litigation—which permits implied waivers—the “mere act of denying the existence of an element or factor of an adversary’s claim does not fall within the statutory language” for waiver. *Chung v. Legacy Corp.*, 548 N.W.2d 147, 150 (Iowa 1996).

There are few cases in which an imaginative lawyer could not make the opposing party’s physical or mental condition at least a factor in the case. If such tactics were sufficient to trigger the exception, there would be little left of the privilege.

*Id.* at 151.

Privileges do impede fact-finding. But “[w]ere we to carve out an exception to the privilege whenever it inhibited the fact-finding process, [the privilege] would quickly become eviscerated.” *Id.*

The district court correctly determined Leedom did not prove a voluntary waiver of the therapist privilege.

**E. A remedy, if any, is a conditional affirmance, not a new trial.**

If the court erred, the conviction shall be conditionally affirmed. *Neiderbach*, 837 N.W.2d at 198; *Barrett*, S.Ct. No. 17-1814, 2018 WL 6132275 at \*7; *Retterath*, S.Ct. No. 16-1710, 2017 WL 6516729 at \*11.

The case would be remanded to the district court to review the disputed records. Only if they contain exculpatory evidence would Leedom be entitled to a new trial.

The district court did not err. Leedom did not establish a reasonable likelihood that H.M.'s confidential records contained exculpatory evidence, that H.M. waived the privilege, or that he was entitled to an *ex parte* hearing.

- II. Leedom wished to introduce rebuttal evidence by H.M.'s therapists to show she did not report her allegations and substantive evidence that H.M.'s mother had been assaulted under mysterious circumstances. He has not proven the district court denied him admissible evidence.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

A ruling sustaining a motion in *limine* does not generally preserve error. *Quad City Bank & Trust v. Jim Kircher & Assoc., P.C.*, 804 N.W.2d 83, 89 (Iowa 2011). It merely adds a procedural step. *Johnson v. Interstate Power Co.*, 481 N.W.2d 310, 317 (Iowa 1992). The proponent of the disputed evidence must offer it at trial outside the presence of the jury in an offer of proof. *Twyford v. Weber*, 220 N.W.2d 919, 923 (Iowa 1974). Otherwise, the matter is waived. *State v. Alberts*, 722 N.W.2d 402, 406 (Iowa 2006). This is because the error occurs—if at all—when the evidence is offered at



trial and is either admitted or refused. *Quad City*, 804 N.W.2d at 90 (citing *State v. Langley*, 265 N.W.2d 718, 720 (Iowa 1978)).

The only exception occurs when the district court leaves no doubt that its ruling is final—the evidence will or will not be admitted—and then counsel need not renew an objection. *Alberts*, 722 N.W.2d at 406; *State v. Miller*, 229 N.W.2d 762, 768 (Iowa 1975). For example, counsel asks the court if the ruling is final and the court answers, “yes.” *State v. Daly*, 623 N.W.2d 799, 800 (Iowa 2001). It is not final when the court’s order prohibits reference to certain evidence unless counsel seeks the court’s permission outside the presence of the jury. *Johnson*, 481 N.W.2d at 316-17. Neither is it preserved when the party fails to make an offer of proof. *State v. Griffey*, 457 N.W.2d 13, 15 (Iowa 1990) (holding error not preserved where proponent failed to make offer of proof).

Casie McGee and Jessica Schmidt filed motions to quash defense subpoenas. Mot. Quash (McGee) (filed June 21, 2018); Mot. Quash (Schmidt) (filed June 21, 2018); App. 224-36. They asserted privilege. *Id.*; App. 224-36. The district court concluded that Leedom could not call them unless the State opened the door. Tr. (June 27, 2018) p. 125, l. 2-p. 138, l. 9.

When Leedom insisted the victim had opened the door or the district court's earlier ruling permitted the testimony, the district court indicated it would have to look at the motion hearing transcript. It replied, "I'm hearing two entirely different things" from the defense and prosecution. *Id.* p. 136, ll. 3-5; *see also id.* p. 137, ll. 17-19 (to defense counsel, "Stay away from it in opening. I don't have the transcript in front of me. I don't know what it says."); Ct. Ex. 1 (May 7, 2018 Hg. Transcript). The Court agreed, "yes," it would "take this up before [the defense] would ever try to bring someone in and put them on the stand." Tr. (June 27, 2018) p. 138, ll. 4-6.

Leedom rested without calling any witnesses or providing an offer of proof of McGee or Schmidt's testimony. "Accordingly, Ms. Schmidt and Ms. McGee are not required to attend trial to testify," the district court ruled. Order Quashing Subpoenas (filed June 28, 2018); App. 236-37.

Leedom's brief asserts several errors in this division. He first complains the court prevented him from "examining [H.M.'s] counselors about communications during sessions." Appellant's Pr. Br. p. 51. If that is the extent of it, the preceding division addresses

the matter. If the question is whether Leedom could offer rebuttal evidence, then the Court's ruling was preliminary.

The district court did not bar Schmidt or McGee from testifying. It wished to review the record. It indicated it would entertain an offer of proof before the witnesses were called. The Court only quashed the subpoenas after Leedom elected to rest without calling the witnesses.

Leedom's second challenge concerns evidence that H.M.'s mother, Teah Leedom, sustained three assaults by unknown persons. *Id.* p. 49. The State moved to preclude the defense from referring to any of the three assaults on Teah, which occurred after she lost custody of H.M. Hg. Tr. (May 7, 2018) p. 90, l. 4-p. 91, l. 15. It argued the evidence was speculative and irrelevant. *Id.* But the district court's subsequent ruling did not touch on the point, which the State had asserted in Paragraph 5(c) of its Motion in Limine. State Mot. Lim. (filed Jan. 8, 2018); Ruling re: Mots. Lim. (filed May 11, 2018), p. 1-2; App. 49, 220-21.

Before trial, however, the defense revisited the topic. Tr. (June 27, 2018) p. 114, l. 18-p. 123, l. 4. The Court asked, "[i]f these are attacks that we don't know who the perpetrator was, why am I admitting it in a sexual abuse trial involving Mr. Leedom where he's

alleged to have abused his granddaughter?” *Id.* p. 117, ll. 20-24; *see Id.* p. 119, ll. 1-4 (“there’s no way I’d let it in” if the State offered it). Without knowing who committed the assaults, “I just can’t fathom any reason that this evidence would be admissible at trial.” *Id.* p. 120, ll. 9-11. “I still don’t know who the person is, and it’s far more prejudicial than it is probative. It’s not even close.” *Id.* p. 121, ll. 8-10. Still, the Court permitted the defense to “make a record at some point if you’d like.” *Id.* p. 122, ll. 6-7. “I’ll allow you to make the offer at whatever point is appropriate.” *Id.* p. 123, ll. 3-4.

The State can agree that the Court appeared convinced the evidence of Teah’s assault appeared irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. But it did not refuse an offer of proof.

Leedom did not preserve error.

### **Standard of Review**

The State does not contest the nature of review. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

### **Merits**

Leedom asserts that the inability to present the testimony of Casie McGee, Jessica Schmidt, and Teah Leedom violated his right to present a defense in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, sections 9 and 10 of the Iowa Constitution. Appellant’s Pr. Br. pp. 50-56; see *Clark*, 814 N.W.2d at 560 (considering denial of a continuance as it impacted due process, fair trial, and right to present a defense). This is properly considered a Due Process Clause challenge. *Clark*, 814 N.W.2d at 561 (quoting *State v. Simpson*, 587 N.W.2d 770, 771 (Iowa 1998)). Defendants, of course, enjoy a fundamental right to present a complete defense. See, e.g., *State v. Mahoney*, 515 N.W.2d 47, 50 (Iowa 1994) (stating defendant entitled to “meaningful opportunity to present a defense”).

Due process does not, however, guarantee the right to introduce all relevant evidence. *Egelhoff*, 518 U.S. at 42. Such a notion is “simply indefensible.” *Id.* An accused does not have “an unfettered right to offer [evidence] that is incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible under standard rules of evidence.” *Id.* (quoting *Taylor v. Illinois*, 484 U.S. 400, 410 (1988)).

Thus, as to H.M.’s therapists, the issue—had it been preserved—collapses to whether their testimony was admissible. The preceding division discusses the nature of the patient-therapist privilege and need not be repeated. The record does not show what injuries or

demeanor H.M.'s therapists observed—or if they could relate such without violating her confidence. Finally, expert testimony whether children lie or do not about sexual matters is not helpful to a jury and thus not admissible. *State v. Myers*, 382 N.W.2d 91, 97 (Iowa 1986); accord *State v. Dudley*, 856 N.W.2d 668, 676-77 (Iowa 2014) (holding same with respect to expert testimony touching on whether the victim was credible).

As to Teah Leedom, the issue—had it been preserved—does not tilt in Leedom's favor. He believes there is a connection between the assaults and the custody dispute. Appellant's Pr. Br. p. 55. The evidence is speculative, irrelevant, and unfairly prejudicial.

Evidence is relevant ... “when it has any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Evidence is relevant if a reasonable person might believe the probability of the truth of the consequential fact to be different if the person knew of the challenged evidence.

*State v. Brown*, 569 N.W.2d 113, 116 (Iowa 1997).

It is unknown who committed the assaults. Tr. (June 27, 2018) p. 120, ll. 23-25. Assuming it is true they were related to the custody dispute, there is no way to know if H.M. or her father had any hand in

them. If someone assaulted Teah, that does not say much about whether Leedom assaulted H.M.

The issue is unpreserved, and the district court did not err in its *limine* ruling.

**III. The district court found no violation of its *limine* ruling or error in closing arguments and, therefore, no prosecutorial misconduct. Leedom has not shown the court abused its discretion.**

**Preservation of Error**

The district court’s ruling preserves the issue Leedom raises now. Ruling (filed Oct. 15, 2018); Tr. (Oct. 15, 2018) p. 51, l. 25-p. 54, l. 7; *Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 862-63; *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537-38.

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